MECHANISMS AND MODELS OF PERIPHERAL CD4 T CELL SELF-TOLERANCE

Colin C. Anderson 1,2 and William F. N. Chan 2

Departments of ¹Surgery and ²Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Surgical-Medical Research Institute, 1074 Dentistry/Pharmacy Centre, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada T6G 2N8

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. The models
 - 3.1. Antigen encounter without rescue signals (signal 1 without 2)
 - 3.1.1. Associative antigen recognition (T cell help)
 - 3.1.2. Costimulation-based models
 - 3.2. Antigen encounter with additional signals (signals 1 and 3)
 - 3.2.1. Coinhibition
 - 3.2.2. Regulatory T cells
 - 3.2.3. T cell tuning
 - 3.3. Ignorance
- 4. General experimental approaches to analyze peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance
 - 4.1. Transgenics
 - 4.1.1. Antigen transgenics
 - 4.1.2. TCR plus antigen transgenics
 - 4.2. Transplantation models
 - 4.3. Can CD8 T cell tolerance studies teach us anything about CD4 T cell tolerance?
- 5. Conclusions and perspectives
- 6. Acknowledgment
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Each response made by our immune system is either to promote or to prevent immune reactivity. That the immune system can successfully achieve both goals under specific biological conditions depends on central and peripheral tolerance mechanisms. Over the years, various experimental systems have been generated to study peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance. The experimental approaches are clearly diverse, but can be broadly categorized into those involving "tolerogenic" antigen injections, the use of transgenic mice (antigen transgenics, TCR transgenics and the combination thereof) and transplantation models. Results of these studies suggested a number of potential mechanisms mediating peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance, including clonal deletion, anergy and immune regulation. While the available systems all presented with their own limitations, they nevertheless provided a foundation from which our understanding of peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance will be built. In addition, previous studies done to examine CD8 T cell tolerance left with us some potentially helpful clues and ideas about how CD4 T cell tolerance should be studied. However, our current understanding on the immunity/tolerance decision made by CD4 T cells in the periphery remains incomplete. Evidence accumulated thus far favors the view that peripheral tolerance, unlike central tolerance, may not primarily determine the selection of specificities within the baseline T cell repertoire but may instead regulate cellular responses within the repertoire, in terms of both expansion/contraction and differentiation. Nevertheless, more robust and refined models need to be developed before we can make definitive conclusions about the potential role of peripheral tolerance in repertoire selection mediated by deletion of self-reactive cells.

2. INTRODUCTION

Our immune system is a biological marvel. Everyday, it interacts with both the external and the internal environment and determines what responses should occur in the presence of specific conditions. To the immune system, a response can be manifested in one of many different ways, though that response is made for one of two purposes: "to promote or to prevent immune reactivity" (1). Each response, whether it is the clearance of an invading pathogen or the removal of autoreactive lymphocytes, comprises a series of biological events that are conceivably executed to maintain the host in homeostasis both internally and in relation to its environment.

The immune system has a selective reactivity, responding strongly to pathogenic agents and generally not to self-tissues. This property has been attributed to a selection of T lymphocytes, resulting in the physical and/or functional elimination of those cells with specificity for self-antigens. Historically, central (thymic) tolerance has been considered to be largely responsible for shaping a T cell repertoire known for its specificity and its

discriminatory nature. Thymocytes undergoing maturation and development in the thymus are subject to positive and negative selection. An overwhelming majority of thymocytes do not survive the selection events. particular, negative selection is important in regulating immune reactivity, as thymocytes bearing high-affinity T cell receptors (TCRs) against thymus-derived host antigens are eliminated in the thymus to prevent autoreactivity in the periphery. The expectation that there would be selfantigens in the periphery that are not expressed in the thymus, and experiments that appeared to demonstrate tolerizability of mature T cells raised doubts about the thymic capacity to act as the sole regulator of autoreactivity and led to the idea of peripheral mechanisms of tolerance. While studies relating to the autoimmune regulator gene (AIRE) demonstrating the expression of peripheral tissue antigens in the thymus (2-5) provide renewed support for central tolerance as the sole necessary tolerance mechanism, they do not exclude the contribution by potential mechanisms of peripheral tolerance. There is a large amount of data suggesting the existence of peripheral tolerance mechanisms that contribute to the overall state of self-tolerance. Hence, negative selection of self-reactive T lymphocytes ("tolerance") may occur during thymocyte maturation in the central lymphoid organs, as well as later in the periphery with mature T cells. What is not clear is whether these mechanisms primarily deal with low-avidity T cells (6,7) that escape central tolerance (despite the presence of their cognate antigens in the thymus) or with high-avidity T cells specific to peripheral antigens not present in the thymus. For the purposes of the current discussion we will focus on CD4 T cell tolerance to antigens found only in the periphery and not encountered in the thymus. It is not that we consider the low-avidity "escapees" to be insignificant, but rather that these cells are likely to be maintained in an inactive state simply by clonal competitive effects (8) (revealed under lymphopenic conditions; example the regulatory T cell (T_{reg}) phenomenon) rather than by the tolerance mechanisms that evolved to silence high-affinity T cells reactive to tissue specific antigens. Regulatory T cells, their history and supporting experiments, have been reviewed in numerous publications recently and we will therefore not cover them extensively here except in terms of their impact on modeling of the peripheral immunity/tolerance decision. Also, discussions of the intracellular signals and factors involved in "tolerogenic" signaling will not be discussed as they have been detailed recently elsewhere (9).

An understanding of the mechanism(s) of peripheral tolerance could lead to new avenues for therapeutic interventions in conditions where tolerance to specific antigens/tissues is needed. Since CD4 T cells control a considerable portion of both B cell and CD8 T cell reactivity (10-13), elucidation of tolerance mechanisms in the CD4 compartment will be crucial to understanding tolerance in general. Peripheral tolerance in CD4 T cells represents a unique problem since these cells are only capable of seeing antigen on the relatively few cell types that express MHC class II (antigen presenting cells (APCs), B cells and endothelial cells) under normal circumstances and the peptide antigens they functionally see are derived

largely from proteins taken up from the endocytic pathway, rather than from proteins made within the cell (14,15).

In this contribution we will discuss various models that propose to explain the general rules determining peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance versus immunity and the specific mechanisms of tolerance involved. We will evaluate the limitations in existing systems that have been used to test CD4 T cell tolerance models/mechanisms and look at future approaches that may help refine our understanding of peripheral tolerance.

3. THE MODELS

In broad terms, ideas about how lymphocyte selection leads to tolerance of self-tissues have moved from a focus on the timing of antigen exposure in the life of the animal, to the timing of antigen exposure in the life of the lymphocyte together with the regulation of selection by antigen nonspecific signals. Tolerance due to antigen exposure early in development (fetal or neonatal period) began with the ideas of Burnet and the neonatal tolerance studies of Billingham, Brent and Medawar (16). Because of the elegant simplicity of the early tolerance window idea, it has been maintained in a small number of current models (17-19) despite accumulating evidence against this view. For example in one study tolerance appears only to be established later in life (20). In this system tolerance to a peripherally expressed beta cell transgenic antigen was apparent in adult but not young animals based on the induction of diabetes upon infection with a virus expressing the antigen in young but not adult mice. It could be argued, however, that the response induced by injecting the same dose of virus into a young versus an old mouse is not a valid comparison (21). In addition, a number of studies have shown that a graft given before the development of the immune system still leads to rejection of that tissue (22-28). This is even true for grafts mismatched for as little as one minor histocompatibility (minor-H) antigen (29), and argues strongly against a tolerance window early in life. Instead the most popular current view is that tolerance of self is primarily established by self-antigen encounter during lymphocyte development (central tolerance, as originally proposed by Lederberg (30)) and secondarily by various mechanisms in the periphery. There are of course proponents of the various extremes, including those viewing self-tolerance as almost completely determined centrally (AIRE etc.) (2-4) and those proposing tolerance to be largely dealt with in the periphery (31). What follows is a brief description of the key aspects of various models, as they apply to CD4 T cell tolerance.

Most of the current models of peripheral T cell tolerance (see Table 1; we would appreciate suggestions for other models that could be included here) can be divided into three categories, those that propose 1. that tolerance is the default pathway in the absence of second signals; 2. that tolerance results from actively induced signals (rather than just antigen in the absence of second signals); and 3. that most peripheral antigens are ignored, only those widely distributed in lymphoid tissue at high enough doses induce

Table 1. Selected models and their characteristics as applied to peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance

Model	Immunity	Peripheral Tolerance	Key Determining Factor(s)
Associative Recognition	Ag with T cell help; linked recognition	Ag without T cell help (default); absence of linked recognition	Timing of Ag exposure
Costimulation: Infectious non-self	Ag with costimulation	Ag without costimulation (default)	¹ PAMPS trigger costimulation
Costimulation: Danger	Ag with costimulation	Ag without costimulation (default)	² Endogenous signals trigger costimulation
Costimulation- Coinhibition	Ag without coinhibition; costimulation amplifies	Ag with induced coinhibitory ligands/signals (feedback/quiescence)	Not yet defined
Regulatory T cells	Ag without suppression	Ag recognition in presence of eT _{reg} ; linked recognition	³ Timing of Ag exposure
Tuning	Signals above threshold required	Continuous signals that only change slowly	Rate of change in many undefined stimuli
Ignorance	Ag in localized lymph tissue	Only when Ag in high dose throughout lymphatics	Ag location and dose

¹PAMPS are pathogen associated molecular patterns that are recognized by recipient Toll-like receptors on APCs. ² Stressed or damaged cells, but not healthy or apoptotic cells, release molecules that trigger activation of APCs. ³ This determining factor is taken from the model of Coutinho and colleagues, and does not necessarily represent a consensus view in the T_{reg} field (e T_{reg} = effector T_{reg}).

tolerance. These in essence are passively, actively and spatially determined mechanisms of tolerance.

3.1. Antigen encounter without rescue signals (signal 1 without 2)

3.1.1. Associative antigen recognition (T cell help)

The cornerstone of this model is the proposal that all lymphocytes acting in a conventional adaptive immune response (including CD4 and CD8 T cells and B cells) require two antigen specific signals for their induction The first signal comes from antigen engagement of the lymphocyte antigen receptor (TCR or BCR) and the second signal comes from an effector T helper cell that is also recognizing a linked epitope of the antigen (hence associative antigen recognition) (34). In the absence of a signal from an effector helper, antigen receptor engagement leads to tolerance (via deletion). Thus, in this model the key to self-tolerance is the induction of tolerance in self-specific helper T cells due to the absence of second signals from effector helpers recognizing self-antigen in a linked fashion. The absence of effector helpers when the immune system is first generated early in life allows the establishment of tolerance (an early window of time where antigen encounter can only lead to tolerance and not immunity). The tolerance established early due to deletion of self-specific helpers is maintained throughout life as each new helper that is generated enters a peripheral environment lacking selfspecific helpers. The postulate that helpers themselves need help generates a chicken and egg conundrum, namely, where did the first effector helper come from? Cohn and Langman proposed that there is a slow time-dependent spontaneous generation of effector T helpers and that selfreactive helpers would encounter their self-antigen prior to differentiating into an effector and therefore would be killed. This model is supported by the numerous studies showing that B cells and CD8 T cells often require linked T cell help for their differentiation into effectors (35-37) and these cells can be tolerized when encountering antigen in the absence of T cell help (38,39). There are also a few

interesting studies suggesting a requirement for T cell help in generating helper T cell responses (40), although these studies and the concepts therein have not impacted on the current design of experiments in immunology. There are downsides to the associative recognition model in terms of providing a general explanation for self-tolerance. These include the requirement for additional assumptions to explain helper independent lymphocyte responses and the seemingly unstoppable autoimmunity that would occur each time a newly generated (not yet tolerized) self-specific helper T cell recognizes its antigen on an APC that is also presenting peptides of a pathogen to an effector antipathogen helper T cell. We would suggest that the linked recognition of epitopes intrinsic to T cell help and the associative antigen recognition model are perfectly suited to control the effector class (including memory (41)) and magnitude of immune responses, and probably play little if any role in determining somatic selection of the baseline repertoire. Because effector molecules of one class can inhibit the function of another, it is critical that the class of immune response is coherent. This can only be achieved by having class regulated through a cellular communication, and determined on an antigen-by-antigen basis. In contrast, tolerance can be achieved on an epitope-by-epitope basis. Furthermore, when B cells and CD4 and CD8 T cells encounter antigen in the absence of a collaborating cell type (e.g. in B cell deficient mice, or upon CD4 T cell depletion), the responding cell no longer is capable of receiving or inducing the appropriate signals from the collaborating cell when it is returned to the system (42). In this way the factors controlling the class of the initial response are maintained upon subsequent antigen encounters. In this view the experiments interpreted as demonstrating tolerance due to the absence of T cell help may instead reflect the presence only of a primary response in a class that was not measured, and a lack of memory induction (41). The lack of a cell intrinsic capacity to generate secondary responses probably arose only after this function evolved to be under the control of T helper cells, long after the primary tolerance mechanism(s) had been established.

3.1.2. Costimulation-based models

While associative recognition helped understanding B cell activation, the difficulties in explaining the generation of the first effector T helper and other considerations led to the current rise of costimulationbased models. However, the idea that antigen nonspecific signals from APCs provided costimulatory signals for T cell activation originated with Lafferty and Cunningham's model that developed from an explanation for the stronger responses to allogeneic compared to xenogeneic cells (43). They hypothesized that stimulator cells (APCs) presented antigens to cognate lymphocytes (signal 1) in the presence of a second (costimulatory) signal supplied by the APCs. Recognition of signal 1 alone by lymphocytes resulted in their inactivation. Because of a lack of experimental support, however, their model was largely ignored and did not gain popularity for many years until a surprising observation was noted by Jenkins and Schwartz (44). Using chemically treated splenocytes as stimulators, they found the responding T cell population to become unresponsive, suggesting that the chemical treatment impaired the ability of APCs to provide additional signals to responding T cells that had recognized cognate antigen/MHC complexes. This finding was crucial to the further experimental development of costimulation-based models.

A key weakness of the early costimulation models was the lack of control over the expression of costimulatory molecules by APCs. Since APCs are equally capable of presenting host-derived as well as foreign antigens, it is unclear how an APC can distinguish between the two types of antigens and express costimulatory molecules appropriately to activate cognate T cells. To solve this problem, Janeway and subsequently Matzinger offered alternative solutions. Janeway proposed that APCs expressed receptors (now known as pattern recognition receptors or PRRs) recognizing evolutionarily conserved molecular motifs found in bacteria, and the recognition of these structures resulted in APC activation and expression of costimulatory molecules (45,46). Hence, self-nonself discrimination was based on self being noninfectious while antigens treated as nonself included only those antigens with an infectious component. Indeed, experimental support of his model arrived with cloning a few years later of the first Toll-like receptor (TLR), a PRR (47), and since then other TLRs specific for various pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) have also been identified (48).

While Janeway's model potentially explains a number of important observations, including the need for adjuvants to enhance the immunogenicity of antigens, it failed to account for other findings, such as immunity towards viral infections (where in many cases PRRs may not play a role) and organ transplants. Consequently, Matzinger proposed another costimulation-based model known as the Danger model (49) that now abandons selfnonself discrimination as the key factor in the immunity/tolerance decision (50,51). She hypothesized that cells of tissues subject to injury or stress would release endogenous "danger" signals that could activate APC to become costimulatory, thereby allowing antigens presented

on APCs to be recognized by cognate T cells in an immunogenic context. In addition to observations explainable by Janeway's model, her model offered reasons as to why established tumors and organ transplants could be tolerated or rejected by the host immune system. Moreover, experimental data in support of the Danger model have also arisen over the years (29,52-58).

3.2. Antigen encounter with additional signals (signals 1 and 3)

3.2.1. Coinhibition

The above "passive" models suggest that the absence of a signal (costimulation or T helper signals) leads to tolerance; antigen receptor engagement alone is a negative signal. Sinclair developed an alternative model in which the antigen receptor signal is positive. In this model costimulation serves as an amplifier of immune responses rather than a reverser of antigen receptor negative signals (consistent with recent in vitro studies (59)), and costimulation is counterbalanced by receptors that mediate negative coinhibitory signals. Coinhibition is negative signals mediated by antigen nonspecific receptors that work in concert with antigen specific signals through the antigen receptor (AgR). Coinhibition is the opposite of costimulation and in some cases has confusingly been called "negative costimulation". Under quiescent conditions, where costimulatory signals are limited, coinhibition may predominate (for example, due to the higher affinity of CTLA-4/B7 interaction compared to CD28/B7). The concept of coinhibitory receptors derived from ideas about the mechanisms of antibody feedback (60) a number of years before costimulation arrived on the scene. It originated with Sinclair's proposal (61) that B cells have receptors for the Fc portion of IgG (FcR) and that coaggregation of the AgR and the FcR shuts off the B cell. The B cell FcR (Fc-gammaRIIb) was thus the first coinhibitory receptor described, and it was found to have a motif in its intracytoplasmic domain common to many subsequently described coinhibitory receptors (62,63). Coinhibition was expanded to be part of a general model of immune regulation in T and B cells (64-66) involving the balance between costimulation and coinhibition by numerous receptors (some examples include CTLA-4, FAS, PD-1, CD5, CD22, CD72, IFNgamma-R). Thus, coinhibitory signals can be delivered by end products such as antibody and cytokines or by receptorligand interactions between cells. There are now many studies that seem consistent with a role for coinhibitory receptors in peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance, as demonstrated by blocking the coinhibitor or eliminating it by gene knockout (67-69). Very recently another coinhibitor in CD4 T cells, Tim-3, has been added to the list (70,71). Tim-3 is expressed on the surface of T_H1 cells and its ligand (Tim-3L) is expressed by both T_H1 and T_H2 cells and some dendritic cells and macrophages but not B cells. Blockade of Tim-3 with Tim-3 fusion proteins blocks tolerance in these cells induced by injection of high dose antigen (70) or by costimulatory blockade strategies in transplantation (71). Whether Tim-3 truly plays any role in the establishment of natural peripheral self-tolerance is not yet clear. This will require analysis of tolerance to naturally or transgenically expressed peripheral self-antigens in Tim-3 knockout mice or in transfer models with Tim-3 blockade.

Coinhibition seems to have become the paradigm for CD4 T cell tolerance and tolerance in general (72), and the signal 1 alone models of peripheral tolerance are clearly antiquated. However, there needs to be developed a clear definition of what controls coinhibition if we are to fully understand how it contributes to the immunity/tolerance decision or other potential functions it may have (73). While there are some clear and simple hypotheses for the control of costimulation (control by "danger" signals or PAMPs) there is not yet a corresponding concept for the control of coinhibition. Nevertheless, augmenting coinhibitory signals already shows potential as a strategy for tolerance induction in transplantation (74-76).

3.2.2. Regulatory T cells

Suppression or regulation could be considered a specific subset of coinhibitory signals, as suppression is also the induction of tolerance via antigen recognition in the presence of tolerogenic antigen nonspecific co-signals. Models that attribute peripheral tolerance to regulatory T (T_{reg}) cells simply restrict the job of delivering coinhibitory signals to a specialized T cell subset. However, while the suppressive mechanism may be antigen nonspecific (e.g. cytokines transforming growth factor-beta or interleukin-10), T_{reg} cells add an additional dimension in that the coinhibitory signals are delivered by antigen specific cells. Treg cells, like helper T cells, may act through linked recognition of antigenic determinants. Since triggering of T_{reg} cells is antigen specific, the obvious goal would be to devise a model whereby T_{reg} cells suppress self- but not foreign reactive T cells. However, surprisingly few had even made an attempt, with the only clear model being that proposed by Coutinho and colleagues (77). This model suggests that newly generated T cells from the thymus are only sensitive to suppression by T_{reg} cells for a short period. In this way most foreign reactive T cells would proceed to the stage where they cannot be suppressed, while selfreactive T cells would encounter their cognate self-antigen and T_{reg} cells during the phase of sensitivity to suppression. Unfortunately this model is not supported by the existing data (50). Although it seems possible to generate a T_{reg}based model for peripheral tolerance versus immunity, there is accumulating evidence that T_{reg} cells suppress antimicrobial responses just as effectively as anti-self responses (78,79). Recently it was shown that TLR ligands (LPS and CpG) triggering dendritic cells could overcome T_{reg} -mediated suppression (80). This effect was in part mediated by the production of interleukin-6. However, again the dramatic effects were in the ability of the T_{reg} cells to suppress a foreign antigen (OVA) triggered Thus, T_{reg} cells have little preference for response. suppressing self-reactive cells as opposed to foreign reactive ones. It therefore appears that Treg cells do not contribute to the decision making process (self versus foreign/pathogen) that is based on somatic selection of lymphocyte clones. The data suggested that even in the presence of T_{reg} cells this decision seems largely to be governed by the activation of APCs. However, other data seemed to indicate an opposing role for TLR ligands when at higher concentration. It was recently shown that T_{reg} cells express a number of TLRs, one of which is the LPS receptor TLR4, and in the presence of LPS the Treg cells

could become activated to control inflammatory responses (81). This would suggest that in the course of an immune response against an invading bacterial pathogen, for instance, that T_{eg} cells are important in regulating the magnitude of the anti-pathogen response such that it remains protective in terms of ridding the pathogen but not so strong that there is excessive bystander damage to host tissues (81,82). In this way, T_{reg} cells may be part of a negative feedback process that limits the overall magnitude of any response, whether it is self- or pathogen specific. They may also play a role in the maintenance of memory (83).

While previous failures in identifying genetic loci corresponding to Treg cell function led to the downfall of the Gershon and Kondo initiated concept of Treg (or suppressor T cells as used during that time period) existence (84,85), the recent discovery of Foxp3 as a key transcriptional factor for Treg cell development (86) arguably provides the strongest evidence yet that Treg cells exist as a critical differentiation stage or even as a distinct cell type in the overall immunologic repertoire. This discovery offers strong support to previous studies demonstrating the production of Treg cells via thymic selection (87), as well as sheds light on studies that argue for Treg cell generation by multiple distinct pathways (88). Defects in Foxp3 lead to lymphoproliferation and autoimmunity. However, similar to defects in CTLA-4 and Fas, it is not clear whether these autoimmune diseases truly represent a breakdown in peripheral tolerance to tissues specific antigens or simply a generalized defect in lymphocyte control such that nonspecific tissue damaging inflammatory events ensue.

3.2.3. T cell tuning

While the theory of tuning activation thresholds was developed many years ago (89,90) it has only been experimentally examined recently in terms of its relevance to peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance. The basis of this model is the postulate that T cells are able to constantly "tune" (adjust) their signaling based on the ambient level of signals present in the environment. This tuning sets the threshold level of signals required to activate a T cell upon subsequent encounters with cognate antigen. In the face of changing levels of antigen the T cell retunes and resets the threshold. In this view, the trigger for a response is the rapid change in levels of signals (including antigen levels) such that the T cell does not have sufficient time to readjust the threshold needed for activation. Evidence that CD4 T cells within a monoclonal repertoire can make such adaptations based on the level of persistent antigen presented was recently provided (91,92). That the level of tolerance attained may vary depending on the level of antigen thus appears likely. However, this appears more to be a detail of mechanism rather than the basis of an explanation for the negative selection of self-reactive T cells and the maintenance of pathogen specific cells. Since rapid changes in the level of antigen alone are not sufficient to trigger a response, it seems more likely that it is the change in the level of other signals (e.g. costimulatory signals) that is key.

3.3. Ignorance

In terms of self-tolerance, the ignorance model of Zinkernagel and colleagues suggests that tolerance to self is induced when any antigen is presented for a sufficient time

and dose throughout lymphoid tissue (1). Thus all selfantigens that normally are found within the central and peripheral lymphoid tissues will induce tolerance. The ignorance model provides a novel explanation for the regulation of immunity in the periphery. It suggests that peripheral tissue specific self-antigens are ignored because they reside in parenchymal tissues and are not expressed or presented by migratory cells in lymph nodes at sufficient levels. Induction of a productive T cell response only occurs when antigen reaches a localized lymphoid tissue in sufficient amounts for a sufficient period of time. Encounter with antigen outside lymphoid tissue leads neither to immunity nor tolerance. Although ignorance of peripheral antigens has been suggested experimentally (93-97), it may only exist for some peripheral self-antigens. It remains unclear whether ignorance of peripheral antigens is a generalizable phenomenon or a rare exception. However, the current evidence appears to favor tolerance rather than ignorance of most transgenically or naturally expressed peripheral self-antigens presented in the context of both class I (98) and class II (99). The proposition that CD4 T cells are ignorant of tissue restricted peripheral selfantigens is perhaps the most dubious aspect of Zinkernagel's model. If self-reactive T cells are ignorant rather than tolerant, each time a peripheral tissue is infected the self-antigens of that tissue will be taken up by local APCs and crosspresented in the draining lymph node resulting in immunity. Since CD4 cells, in the absence of a CD8 response, are capable of significant tissue destruction, autoimmune disease would be extremely frequent in an immune system governed by ignorance.

4. GENERAL EXPERIMENTAL APPROACHES TO ANALYZE PERIPHERAL CD4 T CELL TOLERANCE

It has been difficult to study the acquisition of peripheral tolerance in CD4 T cells in vivo, therefore much of the early studies were done in vitro with T cell clones. As predicted by the two-signal model of Lafferty and Cunningham (43), these data suggested that helper T cell activation requires a signal triggered by specific antigen (peptide/MHC) binding to the TCR and antigen nonspecific signal(s), termed costimulation, delivered by the APC. In the absence of costimulation the T cell clones instead became unresponsive (anergic) (44). However, it is not clear that the in vitro models reflect the tolerance mechanisms occurring in vivo. While anergic T cell clones do not proliferate or secrete IL-2, their production of chemokines is not reduced (100). Furthermore, it has not been possible to anergize primary naïve T cells in vitro; only previously primed cells are susceptible to anergy induction (101). Thus, it will be important to determine what mechanisms of peripheral tolerance act in vivo. In contrast to the many elegant studies of T helper cell tolerance to ubiquitous self-antigens (102,103) and breakdowns in tolerance (104-108), there have been few studies of the successful establishment of peripheral tolerance (tolerance to antigens not present in the thymus) in CD4 T cells. The study of in vivo CD4 T cell tolerance to peripheral tissue specific antigens has been faced with two major hurdles, the lack of clearly identified tissue

specific antigens and the absence of methods to follow the antigen specific T cells in the sea of T cells specific to other antigens. Survival of viral superantigen reactive T cells in bone marrow chimeric mice provided a system to study the tolerant state in peripheral CD4 T cells (109). However, since the antigens were also encountered in the thymus this model did not allow the study of tolerance to uniquely peripheral antigens. By blocking thymocyte encounter with superantigens using antibodies to I-E, and releasing the autoreactive cells into the periphery, Jones and colleagues were able to study the establishment of peripheral tolerance once antibody treatment had been terminated (110). Under these conditions there was a dramatic deletion of the relevant Vbeta expressing CD4 and CD8 T cells. The generalizability of this strong peripheral deletion is however questionable as the widespread distribution of the deleting antigen does not reflect the distribution or dose that is likely for normal tissue specific peripheral antigens. One way to overcome the "absence of antigen" problem has been to simply inject an antigen into an animal and assume that if unresponsiveness is induced, that the mechanisms involved reflect those that would normally occur during tolerance to tissue specific peripheral selfantigens (111-113). However, this is a large assumption as the distribution of an injected antigen, timing of its presence in ontogeny, quantity, and cells presenting the antigen, are all likely to be different from the natural situation. In addition, the apparent tolerance associated with intravenous injection of soluble antigens/peptides may reflect the characteristically short half-life of antigens administered in this way, a characteristic that is certainly unlikely to mimic most true peripheral self-antigens. Furthermore, both in vivo and in vitro anergic states in terms of proliferation, can be associated with intact helper and killer cell effector functions (114-116). An approach that removed many hidden assumptions was the development of antigen transgenic mice using tissue specific promoters. However, this approach has not always been successful in generating a truly peripheral antigen, as thymic expression often occurs, making it difficult to analyze peripheral tolerance independent from previous antigen encounter in the thymus (117-119).

Another approach to study peripheral tolerance, one that arrived serendipitously rather than through planned tolerance studies, is the use of certain gene knockout and spontaneous mutant mice that appear to develop autoimmune disease. Examples include the spontaneous lpr and gld mutants (120), and knockouts of CTLA-4 (121). Studies in these systems have provided some experimental support for the view that coinhibitory molecules are critical for peripheral tolerance. However, these knockouts display generalized defects, including in some cases a loss of tolerance to ubiquitous nuclear autoantigens. They have not been shown to have a particular loss of tolerance to natural tissue specific antigens that would lead to tissue specific autoimmune diseases such as Type-1 Diabetes. Thus, it is not fully clear whether these molecules are involved in the establishment of tolerance to tissue specific antigens in the periphery or alternatively play a role in homeostatic mechanisms or regulation of effector class. More recently, knockouts for other molecules, such as PD1

(69), have revealed coinhibitors that may more directly play a role in tolerance to tissue specific peripheral antigens.

4.1. Transgenics

4.1.1. Antigen transgenics

Initially MHC molecules were the antigens of choice for peripheral transgenic expression. because there is a high frequency of cells reactive to an allogeneic MHC and T cells reactive with certain MHC molecules can be tracked because they use certain TCR Vbeta families. Lo and colleagues expressed MHC class II molecules on beta cells or acinar cells of the pancreas (122-124) and studied the TCR Vbeta family that reacted with the MHC class II. While they found that the T cells were not deleted but instead became anergic (124,125), others who generated similar models did not find anergy (126-128). While thymus expression of the transgene may have been responsible for the anergic state, the discrepancies between the various studies raises a difficulty in interpreting MHC transgenic mouse models. Unlike normal peripheral self-antigens, transgenic MHC molecules on a peripheral tissue are in effect hundreds of antigens because there is no central tolerance to the transgenic MHC and its multitude of associated peptides. Another major drawback of MHC transgenic studies relates to the MHC restricted nature of antigen recognition by T cells and as a consequence the lack of recognition of the transgenic antigens via crosspresentation (indirect presentation). T cells specific for intact transgenic MHC molecules are not able to recognize the processed peptides of the transgenic MHC that are crosspresented by the recipient's APCs and MHC. While crosspresentation had been seen many years ago (129), evidence has only appeared recently that it may play an important role in peripheral tolerance to tissue restricted antigens (99,130-133). Thus, MHC transgenics miss any tolerogenic effects via crosspresentation, a process that allows tissue APCs to pick up and present tissue specific antigens. However, initial studies using mice with transgenic expression of LCMV glycoprotein in the pancreas, where both pathways of presentation could occur, appeared to show that T cells were ignorant rather than tolerant (93). The reason for ignorance was unclear, but may reflect an important role for the level of antigen expression, as tolerance has been observed in other systems (134).

4.1.2. TCR plus antigen transgenics

Difficulties in visualizing tolerance mechanisms can be overcome by using mice with a monoclonal T cell population specific for a self-antigen. This has been achieved with TCR transgenic (Tg) mice that are crossed to SCID mice or RAG knockout (KO) mice in order to prevent endogenous TCR gene rearrangement. However, few studies have used such mice to analyze peripheral tolerance in CD4 T cells. In some studies TCR Tg mice specific for hemagglutinin (HA) in IE^d were combined with viral HA antigen Tg mice, expressing HA on hematopoietic cells or numerous tissues (99,135,136). Antigen expression in the thymus could be detected thus necessitating transfer of TCR Tg cells into antigen expressing hosts. In both studies hyporesponsiveness *in*

vitro (anergy) was observed. However, these studies are difficult to interpret for a number of reasons. The TCR Tg mouse employed in one set of studies was not on a SCID or RAG-KO background (99,136), and therefore some of the T cells would have expressed endogenous TCRs as well as the Tg TCR. Expression of a second TCR is likely to alter the outcome of antigen encounter (137), as has already been shown for antigen encounter within the thymus (138). Indeed, using the same TCR Tg along with different HA antigen transgenics (87,139), escape from negative selection in the thymus in T cells expressing endogenous TCRalpha chains was found (140). In these studies it could not be established whether the tolerant state in the periphery was true peripheral tolerance or a state induced during non-deletional encounter with antigen in the thymus. Another difficulty lies in the site of expression of the target antigen. It is becoming clear that the outcome of antigen presentation (tolerance or immunity) is greatly influenced by the type of cell presenting the antigen (21,141-144). In the Lanoue et al. study the vast majority of cells presenting the self-antigen were B cells, not the cell type that would be expected to present naturally occurring peripheral selfantigens. The quantity and wide distribution of antigen in all of these studies are likely to have influenced the outcome. Most truly peripheral (not present in the thymus) self-antigens would not have a wide distribution but instead would be found within a particular organ/tissue or the lymph node draining that tissue (130,145). Similar difficulties due to antigen/tissue distribution and/or endogenous TCR gene rearrangements also apply in earlier work with systemically injected peptides (113) and in other recent studies of CD4 T cell tolerance (91,146). However, such studies of tolerance to systemic antigens may have relevance for understanding tolerance to a small subset of systemic self proteins that putatively only arise later in life after the full development of the T cell repertoire (113). A study by Forster et al. may provide the best hints about peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance. Using Tg mice expressing SV40 T antigen (Tag) in the pancreas and Tg CD4 T cells specific to Tag (147), they found that the T cells were not deleted in the thymus early in life but were either deleted or partially anergic in the periphery. The tolerance was only partial, as insulitis without diabetes was present and tolerance did not occur when the T cell population was monoclonal (endogenous TCRs excluded by crossing to a RAG-KO background). Thus, Forster's study was the first to eliminate the confounding variable of endogenous TCR expression when analyzing CD4 T cell tolerance using TCR Tg cells. However, since interactions between T cells of different specificities greatly influence the outcome, it is not clear that such studies with a monoclonal repertoire will reflect the outcomes/mechanisms that occur under the physiologic conditions of a polyclonal repertoire. Clarification of these issues will require seeding small numbers of monoclonal (RAG-KO) TCR transgenic T cells into a normal repertoire and tracking their fate.

TCR and antigen transgenics have also been employed to test what signals are involved in self-tolerance. Does tolerance result from antigen receptor engagement alone (signal 1) or are coinhibitory receptors necessary to maintain self-tolerance? While the

lymphoproliferation and systemic autoimmune-like phenotypes in CTLA-4 KO and Fas deficient mice suggest they play a critical role in self-tolerance, there has been little in the way of direct evidence for a preferential loss of peripheral tolerance in these animals (as opposed to a nonspecific heightened responsiveness). Recent work by Abbas and colleagues has begun to address this issue by transferring wild type versus CTLA-4 KO CD4 anti-HEL TCR Tg T cells (not on RAG-KO background) into mice expressing HEL in pancreatic beta cells with subsequent immunization using HEL in various adjuvants (148). They compared T cell activity at the site draining the neo-selfantigen and at the site where HEL was introduced in immunizing form. Deficiency in CTLA-4 led to increased accumulation of transgenic T cells in the lymph node draining the pancreas but not draining the site of immunization, and this accumulation was associated with ensuing autoimmune diabetes. However, diabetes could be induced even with wild type Tg T cells if stronger adjuvants were employed. These data suggest the possibility that the coinhibitor CTLA-4 may function to allow tolerance to self-tissues to be maintained in the face of concomitant immunity by T cells crossreactive to pathogen and self-epitopes. Thus, the balance between costimulation and coinhibition can be tipped towards immunity/autoimmunity with sufficiently strong adjuvants such as CFA. Further experiments are needed to fully determine if coinhibitory signals from CTLA-4 or other coinhibitors act constitutively or are regulated such that they act predominantly to prevent self- but not pathogen specific reactivity. The critical question is whether the immunity/tolerance decision is determined by constitutive coinhibition together with inducible costimulation (i.e. costimulation alone is the determining factor since coinhibition is always active) or by a system where both coinhibition and costimulation are inducible, a situation where both can play a determining role.

One common feature to all in vivo tolerance studies using TCR Tg mice thus far is that the T cells that are eventually deemed to be tolerant (whether anergized or deleted) arrive at this state after having made what looks like a conventional immune response, including both proliferation and differentiation (at least in terms of changes in surface markers). This is not what one would predict if peripheral tolerance were simply about deleting self-reactive specificities from the repertoire (why waste energy proliferating?). It instead suggests that the peripheral immunity/tolerance decision is one of determining the magnitude of response, and not a question of whether there will be a response. The response versus no response decision may instead be determined by the presence or absence of a given specificity in the repertoire, a property largely if not completely determined during thymocyte selection. We cannot however rule out the possibility that peripheral deletion does substantially shape the repertoire of T cell specificities. If this is the case, proliferation prior to deletion (tolerance induction) may indicate that the gap that evolved between tolerogenic and immunogenic presentation is quite narrow. In the context of a costimulation-based model this would mean that it is not a black and white situation of self-antigens presented

on resting APCs and pathogen antigens on activated (costimulatory) APCs. Instead, naïve T cells may have to "add" up the sum of a number of encounters with antigen/APC before a final decision between tolerance and immunity can be made. In this way, for example, the summation of encounter with 8 resting and 2 activated APCs presenting antigen will lead to some cell division but eventual tolerance, while encounter with 5 resting and 5 activated APC may lead to sustained immunity. There may also be a summation in signals from separate sequential costimulators that prevents premature termination of the response (149). We do not vet have a handle on how wide the divide is between tolerogenic and immunogenic presentation. Elucidation of these quantitative aspects will increase the precision of our description of immunity versus tolerance, but whether they will also force a change in overall conceptual models remains to be seen (150).

4.2. Transplantation models

Expression of antigens under the control of tissue specific promoters has provided a way to study peripheral tolerance to a defined antigen without the knowledge of natural tissue specific antigens. The approach however is not without some drawbacks. It is not always clear that the antigens are expressed at physiologic levels or in appropriate sites and the forced expression of an antigen not normally expressed by a particular cell type may have adverse affects on the function/viability of the cell independent of any immune response (122,127). Another less traveled path to generate a model peripheral antigen that may overcome some of these deficiencies is to graft a tissue naturally expressing its own histocompatibility antigens. The obvious difficulty with using grafts as the source of a model peripheral antigen is that grafts normally induce immunity rather than tolerance. However, they provide an excellent model with which to test our ideas of peripheral tolerance mechanisms, for if we truly understand what it is that makes grafts but not self-tissues trigger an immune response, it should be feasible to block the trigger and generate tolerance. Indeed there have been a number of situations in which acceptance of a foreign (mismatched) transplant has been achieved and apparent tolerance induced without chronic immunosuppression. The most successful method of inducing transplantation tolerance is through the generation of systemic chimerism with donor However, the tolerance in this situation is predominantly central rather than peripheral and thus generally not relevant to the present discussion. Instead we will briefly discuss approaches that have focused on blocking costimulation. They include depletion of donor APCs, antibody/fusion protein mediated blockade of costimulatory receptors/ligands and removing the signals that lead to activation of APCs and upregulation of costimulatory molecules.

Donor leukocytes have long been considered important in stimulating an anti-graft response. One primary difference between a graft and a normal peripheral self tissue that may contribute to the different way these two entities are treated by the immune system is the presence of APCs in the graft (but not the self-tissue) that express antigens to which the immune system of the

recipient is not centrally tolerant. In contrast, the parenchymal tissue of both the graft and a peripheral selftissue expresses antigens to which recipient T cells are not centrally tolerant. Thus simply eliminating the donor APCs should put the graft and the self-tissue on a more equal footing. Depletion of donor APCs from transplants leaves only parenchymal tissue, and not resident APCs, expressing the graft antigens. Thus, the distribution of cells expressing graft antigens becomes the same as for cells expressing a peripheral self-antigen. However, donor APC depletion is unlikely to fully mimic natural peripheral tolerance. It leads to graft acceptance with many MHC mismatched grafts (151-159) but not reliably with MHC matched minor-H antigen mismatched grafts (160). Similar to the difficulties encountered with MHC transgenic studies (see section 4.1.1), donor APC depletion does not take into account the natural role of crosspresentation (termed indirect presentation in the context of transplantation). When MHC matched, both donor and recipient APCs are able to present donor minor-H antigens in the same haplotype of MHC. Therefore, removing the donor APCs would not fully block presentation of donor antigens to T cells capable of directly recognizing the graft. Crosspresentation would still occur and would be capable of activating T cells that can directly recognize donor cells and their peptide/MHC complexes. In contrast, with MHC mismatched grafts, removal of APCs leads to a loss of function because T cells with direct specificity/restriction for donor MHC cannot be primed by the indirect pathway, and conversely, the T cells capable of recognizing donor antigens in recipient MHC (indirectly primed T cells) are not able to directly recognize the donor tissue and reject it (for further discussion of these issues see ref.(161)). In the long-term, indirect presentation may be tolerogenic, but as before, the T cells that directly recognize the mismatched donor MHC antigens cannot recognize the donor antigens when presented indirectly in recipient MHC molecules. Thus, MHC mismatched donor APC depleted grafts do not induce tolerance in T cells that directly recognize graft antigens (159).

A way to tackle the contribution of both donor and recipient APCs is to block their ability to send costimulatory signals. The view that inducible costimulatory signals provided by APCs are necessary for a functional immune response has become the leading paradigm (45,162-166). Blockade of some of the costimulatory pathways (CD28/B7 and CD40/CD40L) has achieved some success in various transplant models (167-The mechanism of graft acceptance/tolerance achieved by this method may involve both deletion of reactive cells and class regulation (immune deviation) of the remaining cells (166,171,174-178). However, this method has not been fully successful in inducing long-term donor specific tolerance (as defined by challenge with second donor grafts) under the most stringent conditions. This may reflect the possibility of other costimulatory pathways not blocked by the treatment taking effect (179,180) or that the mechanisms of peripheral tolerance do not have the capacity to deal with the large repertoire of responding cells in the alloreactive population. synergistic effects of recipient lymphocyte depletion and

costimulation blockade support the latter possibility. One of the most promising recent approaches combines lymphocyte depletion and blockade of T cell growth factor signals generated by interleukin-2 (IL-2) and interleukin-15 (IL-15) using lytic receptor agonist (IL-2) and antagonist (IL-15) fusion proteins in combination with rapamycin to block IL-2 induced proliferative signals while maintaining IL-2's pro-apoptotic activity (181). This method indicates that blockade of signals downstream of costimulation can also provide a means to achieve tolerance.

Another approach to make peripheral graft antigens be treated like self-antigens is to reduce the signals that generate the costimulation that triggers graft rejection. This approach is based on the view that costimulatory signals are stimulated by one of two general sources. As discussed earlier costimulatory signals may be triggered either by recognition of PAMPs by TLRs or by endogenous signals from stressed or damaged cells. In the latter situation graft rejection could be explained by the surgical tissue damage that is likely to trigger costimulation in both donor and recipient APCs. However, since it is known that the repertoire of T cells responding to a fully allogeneic graft includes memory cells it is likely that these cells were triggered by crossreactive antigens that themselves were associated with inducers of costimulation. Thus, in this case it does not seem possible to block all the relevant costimulation inducers since some of the costimulatory activation of T cells had occurred prior to transplantation. To generate a model where all potential inducers of costimulation triggered rejection can be controlled it seems necessary to use a graft that has only a small number of minor-H mismatches. In this way the response of a naïve anti-graft repertoire may be analyzed for conditions that lead to peripheral tolerance. We recently took this approach and asked whether allowing a single minor-H (male H-Y) antigen graft to heal into an immunodeficient recipient, so that the tissue damage associated APC activating signals had time to dissipate, would allow the graft to be treated as self. We found that even long healed grafts were rejected when the recipients immune system was reconstituted by hematopoietic stem cell transfer (28,29). Thus, surprisingly the graft antigens were not treated like self-antigens despite the small mismatch and despite allowing the graft to heal prior to allowing the immune system to encounter it. Rejection may have been due to some long-term abnormalities in the grafted tissue (mRNA analysis of graft tissue provided some support for this possibility (29)) or due to the origin of the grafted tissue. We and others had chosen skin grafts for these types of experiments and it may be difficult to eliminate all inducers of costimulation from an external tissue such as skin, given its continuous exposure to microbes and potential tissue damage (scratching etc). A recent study supports this latter possibility as female recipient mice were unable to reject male skin grafts from donors defective in the TLR signal transduction pathway (182). Thus, a more critical test will require allowing an internally placed graft (e.g. heart, islets) to heal and then see if it is able to induce peripheral tolerance in a newly generated immune system.

Waldmann and colleagues published a series of data demonstrating dominant peripheral CD4 T cell

tolerance to multiple minor-H mismatched skin grafts that were transplanted onto recipients given a tolerance inducing antibody regimen (consisting of varying combinations of depleting and non-depleting anti-CD4, -CD8, and anti-CD40L antibodies). The involvement of a dominant mechanism involving linked suppression was supported, in one study, by long-term acceptance of (donor x 3^d party)F1 skin grafts (183) and by transfer of the tolerant state to naïve T cells in a second study (184). In a third study, they showed that tolerated skin grafts carried passenger T cells capable of preventing rejection (185). While the combination of these studies clearly provided evidence for a robust dominant tolerance to multiple minor-H grafts, it is not yet clear why the antibody treatments induced such a state or whether this state in any way mimics the mechanisms naturally employed in the development of peripheral self-tolerance. Nevertheless, application of infectious tolerance mechanisms would be ideal for clinical tolerance protocols in transplantation and autoimmune disease as these mechanisms alleviate the necessity of knowing all the target antigens involved; tolerance should spread to any unrecognized donor- or auto-antigens.

4.3. Can CD8 T cell tolerance studies teach us anything about CD4 T cell tolerance?

Some of the early studies of CD8 T cell tolerance suggested that the immune system is ignorant of peripheral self-antigens (93,94,186). In another system, the transfer of Tg T cells specific to a widely distributed antigen in the recipient (anti-H-Y CD8 T cells into a male mouse) resulted in expansion and then deletion of the transferred cells (187). However the deletion was not complete and did not result in a reduction of T cell numbers below the number originally injected. The remaining cells appeared anergic. In a different model, TCR transgenic CD8 T cells specific to K^b expressed on liver were not ignorant or anergic but instead induced autoimmune tissue destruction and underwent deletion (188). Evident tissue destruction and deletion was also the result when sufficiently high numbers of TCR transgenic T cells recognizing OVA/MHC class I complexes were transferred into hosts that transgenically expressed OVA in islets (98,130). It is not clear whether all aspects of these studies may be generalized to CD4 T cells tolerance. However, it is likely that increased frequencies of autoreactive cells will lead to tissue destruction when CD4 cells are employed just as in the above CD8 T cell experiments. In other studies CD8 T cell peripheral tolerance has been associated with downregulation of the CD8 coreceptor (189). downregulation has not been observed in studies with CD4 T cells.

While we have thus far discussed tolerance in simplified terms as an "all or none" phenomenon, the reality is of course that there will be a threshold of avidity for tolerance and self-specific cells of sufficiently low avidity will escape the tolerance mechanisms. The functional relevance of such cells is highlighted by studies of Sherman and colleagues (190). They described an aspect of CD8 tolerance that is likely to be generalizable to CD4 T cells. Tg mice with HA expressed in the pancreas

were functionally tolerant of HA in that they accepted an HA-expressing tumor while non-transgenic mice did not. However, immunization with virus expressing HA led to the ability to reject the tumor even in HA transgenic mice. The rejection was associated with the production of lowavidity CTL specific to HA that presumably eliminated the tumor and yet did not cause destruction of the HA expressing beta cells of the pancreas. This suggests that tolerance versus immunity is not simply a consequence of clonal selection of receptor specificities resulting in the physical or functional elimination of self-reactive cells. Self-reactive cells can be functional at eliminating an invader (in this case a tumor) without significant destruction of self-tissues. Thus, the maintenance of such low-avidity self-reactive T cells if crossreactive to an epitope of a pathogen may provide a survival benefit. Tolerance of self-tissue may be maintained either because of its "healthy" state (no APC activating signals) or because of a lower expression of the relevant epitope.

Existing models of CD8 T cell tolerance not only provide potential clues as to the mechanisms that may be operational in CD4 T cell tolerance but they also suggest new ways to study CD4 T cell tolerance. Pregnancy as a model for examining peripheral tolerance is one such example and it is arguably a very natural (less manipulated) system for studying peripheral tolerance mechanisms. Since the appearance of fetal antigens only occurs long after the generation of the maternal T cell repertoire, central tolerance cannot play a primary role in the acceptance of the fetus. It is therefore possible that mechanisms of tolerance to the fetus may be similar to mechanisms involved in tolerance to certain self-antigens that have been hypothesized to appear only late in ontogeny (191). MHC class I restricted TCR Tg mouse strains have made it possible to monitor anti-paternal CD8 T cells during pregnancy (no published data are vet available for class IIrestricted T cells). These studies found that maternal tolerance to fetal alloantigens was transient involving a temporary reduction/deletion of cognate T cells (192) and induction of unresponsiveness in those T cells that did not undergo deletion (193).

5. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Given the above discussion of mechanistic studies and models of peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance are we any closer to solving the puzzle of self-nonself discrimination or the danger-nondanger discrimination? In the past 15 years a number of critical tools have been developed that have allowed some light to be shed on the nature of peripheral tolerance. Nevertheless, some of the key issues remain elusive and may only be resolved when further refinements in the model systems are developed. The ideal system for studying mechanisms of peripheral CD4 T cell tolerance would have the following characteristics: 1. expression/presentation of a defined peptide antigen (not allo-MHC) restricted to a single peripheral tissue, and whose timing of expression in the life of the animal can be controlled; 2. methods of studying MHC II-restricted T cell effector responses to the peripheral antigen (not just proliferation); 3. methods of

following the fate of the antigen specific T cells expressing a single TCR (a condition not fulfilled by the TCR transgenics that allow endogenous TCR expression); and 4. defined conditions where the antigen induces tolerance versus immunity. Most of the studies reviewed herein demonstrate some aspects of the ideal model but none fulfills all the criteria. Consequently, there remains some doubt as to the generalizability of the conclusions drawn in each model system. Did the immune system really evolve multiple mechanisms of peripheral tolerance (deletion, anergy, regulation etc.) or is it simply our variable experimental systems that lead to the variable answers while the natural course included only a single chosen mechanism? In terms of the physical or functional selection of the T cell repertoire into the good clones (antipathogen) and the bad clones (anti-self), no compelling argument has been put forward to account for the multiple mechanisms observed experimentally. Once the first peripheral selection mechanism to arise was in place there would seem to be little selective pressure for an additional mechanism. From this point of view, the additional mechanisms apparent in various models may have a function, perhaps in controlling expansion/contraction or differentiation of clones from the already determined steady state repertoire (a concept put forward by Cohn (33)). This control of the magnitude and class of response could equally well be important in maintaining the integrity of the individual, and defects in these mechanisms could lead to autodestruction. Thus, it may be possible to define the mechanism(s) involved in the selection of the baseline repertoire, and separate mechanisms that control the use of the clones within that repertoire. It is still controversial whether the baseline peripheral repertoire is largely if not completely shaped by the central selection events or if peripheral selection also plays a large role. If the latter is not the case, then control of expansion/contraction and differentiation of the established baseline repertoire is the sole peripheral means of preventing autoimmune disease in the periphery. The conventional view instead would be that both central and peripheral tolerance determine the clonal specificity of the baseline repertoire. Which view is correct can only be answered by determining whether or not the frequency of autoreactive cells is higher in the pool of recent thymic emigrants when compared to long established peripheral T cells. An even more challenging area for the future will be the definition of the function of each costimulator and coinhibitor. It is unlikely that each serves an overlapping (redundant) role, and elucidation of each of their specific functions is likely to give us a much clearer picture of both peripheral tolerance and the regulation of class of immune responses.

6. ACKNOWLEDGMENT

WFNC is supported by a studentship from the Muttart Diabetes Research and Training Centre.

7. REFERENCES

1. Zinkernagel, R.M., S. Ehl, P. Aichele, S. Oehen, T. Kundig & H. Hengartner: Antigen localisation regulates

- immune responses in a dose- and time-dependent fashion: a geographical view of immune reactivity. *Immunol Rev* 156, 199-209 (1997)
- 2. Anderson, M.S., E.S. Venanzi, L. Klein, Z. Chen, S.P. Berzins, S.J. Turley, H. von Boehmer, R. Bronson, A. Dierich, C. Benoist & D. Mathis: Projection of an immunological self shadow within the thymus by the aire protein. *Science* 298, 1395-1401 (2002)
- 3. Derbinski, J., A. Schulte, B. Kyewski & L. Klein: Promiscuous gene expression in medullary thymic epithelial cells mirrors the peripheral self. *Nat Immunol* 2, 1032-1039 (2001)
- 4. Liston, A., S. Lesage, J. Wilson, L. Peltonen & C.C. Goodnow: Aire regulates negative selection of organ-specific T cells. *Nat Immunol* 4, 350-354 (2003)
- 5. Nagamine, K., P. Peterson, H.S. Scott, J. Kudoh, S. Minoshima, M. Heino, K.J. Krohn, M.D. Lalioti, P.E. Mullis, S.E. Antonarakis, K. Kawasaki, S. Asakawa, F. Ito & N. Shimizu: Positional cloning of the APECED gene. *Nat Genet* 17, 393-398 (1997)
- 6. Rider, B.J., E. Fraga, Q. Yu & B. Singh: Immune responses to self peptides naturally presented by murine class II major histocompatibility complex molecules. *Mol Immunol* 33, 625-633 (1996)
- 7. Gebe, J.A., B.A. Falk, K.A. Rock, S.A. Kochik, A.K. Heninger, H. Reijonen, W.W. Kwok & G.T. Nepom: Lowavidity recognition by CD4+ T cells directed to self-antigens. *Eur J Immunol* 33, 1409-1417 (2003)
- 8. Barthlott, T., G. Kassiotis & B. Stockinger: T cell regulation as a side effect of homeostasis and competition. *J Exp Med* 197, 451-460 (2003)
- 9. Schwartz, R.H.: T cell anergy. *Annu Rev Immunol* 21, 305-334 (2003)
- 10. Owens, T., D. Heath & J. Poudrier: Synergy between cell contact and cytokines in B cell activation. *Adv Mol Cell Immunol* 1B, 51-73 (1993)
- 11. Foy, T., D. Shepard, F. Durie, A. Aruffo, J. Ledbetter & R. Noelle: In vivo CD40-gp39 interactions are essential for thymus-dependent humoral immunity. II. Prolonged suppression of the humoral immune response by an antibody to the ligand for CD40, gp39. *J Exp Med* 178, 1567-1575 (1993)
- 12. Kurts, C., F. Carbone, M. Barnden, J. Allison, W. Heath & J. Miller: CD4+ T cell help impairs CD8+ T cell deletion induced by cross-presenation of self-antigens and favors autoimmunity. J Exp Med 186, 2057-2062 (1997)
- 13. Ridge, J.P., F. Di Rosa & P. Matzinger: A conditioned dendritic cell can be a temporal bridge between a CD4+ Thelper and a T-killer cell. Nature 393, 474-478 (1998)
- 14. Morrison, L., A. Lukacher, V. Braciale, D. Fan & T. Braciale: Differences in antigen presentation to MHC class I-and class II-restricted influenza virus specific cytolytic T lymphocyte clones. J Exp Med 163, 903-921 (1986)
- 15. Stockinger, B., C.F. Grant & B. Hausmann: Localization of self antigen: implications for antigen presentation and induction of tolerance. Eur J Immunol 23, 6-11 (1993)
- 16. Billingham, R.E., L. Brent & P.B. Medawar: 'Actively acquired tolerance' of foreign cells. Nature 172, 603-606 (1953)
- 17. Langman, R.E. & M. Cohn: A minimal model for the self-nonself discrimination: a return to the basics. *Semin Immunol* 12, 189-195; discussion 257-344. (2000)

- 18. Coutinho, A.: Germ-line selection ensures embryonic autoreactivity and a positive discrimination of self mediated by supraclonal mechanisms. *Semin Immunol* 12, 205-213; discussion 257-344 (2000)
- 19. Bretscher, P.A.: A two-step, two-signal model for the primary activation of precursor helper T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96, 185-190 (1999)
- 20. Morgan, D.J., C. Kurts, H.T. Kreuwel, K.L. Holst, W.R. Heath & L.A. Sherman: Ontogeny of T cell tolerance to peripherally expressed antigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 3854-3858 (1999)
- 21. Ridge, J.P., E.J. Fuchs & P. Matzinger: Neonatal tolerance revisited: turning on newborn T cells with dendritic cells. *Science* 271, 1723-1726 (1996)
- 22. Besedovsky, H.O., A. del Rey & E. Sorkin: Role of prethymic cells in acquisition of self-tolerance. *J Exp Med* 150, 1351-1358 (1979)
- 23. Corbel, C., C. Martin, H. Ohki, M. Coltey, I. Hlozanek & N.M. Le Douarin: Evidence for peripheral mechanisms inducing tissue tolerance during ontogeny. *Int Immunol* 2, 33-40 (1990)
- 24. Coulombe, M. & R.G. Gill: T lymphocyte indifference to extrathymic islet allografts. *J Immunol* 156, 1998-2003 (1996)
- 25. McCullagh, P.: Inability of fetal skin to induce allograft tolerance in fetal lambs. *Immunology* 67, 489-495 (1989)
- 26. Rajan, T.V., L.D. Shultz & D.L. Greiner: Lack of peripherally induced tolerance to established skin allografts in immunologically reconstituted scid mice. *Dev Immunol* 3, 45-50 (1992)
- 27. Le Douarin, N.M., C. Corbel, C. Martin, M. Coltey & J. Salaun: Induction of tolerance by embryonic thymic epithelial grafts in birds and mammals. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* 54, 777-787 (1989)
- 28. Anderson, C.C. & P. Matzinger: Immunity or tolerance: opposite outcomes of microchimerism from skin grafts. *Nat Med* 7, 80-87. (2001)
- 29. Anderson, C.C., J.M. Carroll, S. Gallucci, J.P. Ridge, A.W. Cheever & P. Matzinger: Testing time-, ignorance-, and danger-based models of tolerance. *J Immunol* 166, 3663-3671. (2001)
- 30. Lederberg, J.: Genes and antibodies. *Science* 129, 1649-1653. (1959)
- 31. Muller, V. & S. Bonhoeffer: Quantitative constraints on the scope of negative selection. *Trends Immunol* 24, 132-135 (2003)
- 32. Langman, R.E. & M. Cohn: A short history of time and space in immune discrimination. *Scand.J.Immunol.* 44, 544-548 (1996)
- 33. Cohn, M.: Logic of the Self-NonSelf discrimination: principles and history. Eds: Moulin, AM & Cambrosio, A Elsevier SAS (2001)
- 34. Bretscher, P. & M. Cohn: A theory of self-nonself discrimination. *Science* 169, 1042-1049 (1970)
- 35. Boak, J.L., N.A. Mitchison & P.H. Pattisson: The carrier effect in the secondary response to hapten-protein conjugates. 3. The anatomical distribution of helper cells and antibody-forming-cell-precursors. *Eur J Immunol* 1, 63-65 (1971)
- 36. Mitchison, N.A.: The carrier effect in the secondary response to hapten-protein conjugates. V. Use of

- antilymphocyte serum to deplete animals of helper cells. *Eur J Immunol* 1, 68-75 (1971)
- 37. Keene, J.A. & J. Forman: Helper activity is required for the in vivo generation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* 155, 768-782 (1982)
- 38. Rees, M.A., A.S. Rosenberg, T.I. Munitz & A. Singer: In vivo induction of antigen-specific transplantation tolerance to Qa1a by exposure to alloantigen in the absence of T-cell help. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87, 2765-2769 (1990)
- 39. Guerder, S. & P. Matzinger: A fail-safe mechanism for maintaining self-tolerance. *J Exp Med* 176, 553-564 (1992)
- 40. Tucker, M.J. & P.A. Bretscher: T cells cooperating in the induction of delayed-type hypersensitivity act via the linked recognition of antigenic determinants. *J Exp Med* 155, 1037-1049 (1982)
- 41. Janssen, E.M., E.E. Lemmens, T. Wolfe, U. Christen, M.G. von Herrath & S.P. Schoenberger: CD4+ T cells are required for secondary expansion and memory in CD8+ T lymphocytes. *Nature* 421, 852-856 (2003)
- 42. Macaulay, A.E., R.H. DeKruyff & D.T. Umetsu: Antigenprimed T cells from B cell-deficient JHD mice fail to provide B cell help. *J Immunol* 160, 1694-1700 (1998)
- 43. Lafferty, K.J. & A. Cunningham: A new analysis of allogenic interactions. *Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci* 53, 27-42 (1975)
- 44. Jenkins, M.K. & R.H. Schwartz: Antigen presentation by chemically modified splenocytes induces antigen-specific T cell unresponsiveness in vitro and in vivo. *J Exp Med* 165, 302-319 (1987)
- 45. Janeway, C.A., Jr.: Approaching the Asymptote? Evolution and Revolution in Immunology. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* 54 Pt 1, 1-13 (1989)
- 46. Janeway, C.A., Jr.: The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. *Immunol Today* 13, 11-16 (1992)
- 47. Medzhitov, R., P. Preston-Hurlburt & C.A. Janeway, Jr.: A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature* 388, 394-397 (1997)
- 48. Takeda, K., T. Kaisho & S. Akira: Toll-like receptors. *Annu Rev Immunol* 21, 335-376 (2003)
- 49. Matzinger, P.: Tolerance, danger, and the extended family. *Annu Rev Immunol* 12, 991-1045 (1994)
- 50. Anderson, C.C. & P. Matzinger: Danger: the view from the bottom of the cliff. *Semin Immunol* 12, 231-238; discussion 257-344. (2000)
- 51. Matzinger, P.: An innate sense of danger. *Semin Immunol* 10, 399-415 (1998)
- 52. Aliberti, J., J.P. Viola, A. Vieira-de-Abreu, P.T. Bozza, A. Sher & J. Scharfstein: Cutting edge: bradykinin induces IL-12 production by dendritic cells: a danger signal that drives Th1 polarization. *J Immunol* 170, 5349-5353 (2003)
- 53. Basu, S., R.J. Binder, R. Suto, K.M. Anderson & P.K. Srivastava: Necrotic but not apoptotic cell death releases heat shock proteins, which deliver a partial maturation signal to dendritic cells and activate the NF-kappa B pathway. *Int Immunol* 12, 1539-1546 (2000)
- 54. Gallucci, S., M. Lolkema & P. Matzinger: Natural adjuvants: endogenous activators of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* 5, 1249-1255 (1999)
- 55. Gallucci, S. & P. Matzinger: Danger signals: SOS to the immune system. *Curr Opin Immunol* 13, 114-119. (2001)

- 56. Shi, Y., J.E. Evans & K.L. Rock: Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature* 425, 516-521 (2003)
- 57. Shi, Y. & K.L. Rock: Cell death releases endogenous adjuvants that selectively enhance immune surveillance of particulate antigens. *Eur J Immunol* 32, 155-162 (2002)
- 58. Shi, Y., W. Zheng & K.L. Rock: Cell injury releases endogenous adjuvants that stimulate cytotoxic T cell responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97, 14590-14595 (2000)
- 59. Gett, A.V. & P.D. Hodgkin: A cellular calculus for signal integration by T cells. *Nat Immunol* 1, 239-244 (2000)
- 60. Sinclair, N.R. & P.L. Chan: Relationship between antibody-mediated immunosuppression and tolerance induction. *Nature* 234, 104-105 (1971)
- 61. Sinclair, N.R.S.: Regulation of the immune response. IV. The role of the Fc-fragment in feedback inhibition by antibody. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 12, 609-615 (1971)
- 62. Amigorena, S.: Fc gamma receptors and cross-presentation in dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 195, F1-3 (2002)
- 63. Burshtyn, D.N., W. Yang, T. Yi & E.O. Long: A novel phosphotyrosine motif with a critical amino acid at position -2 for the SH2 domain-mediated activation of the tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1. *J Biol Chem* 272, 13066-13072 (1997)
- 64. Sinclair, N.R.: How many signals are enough? *Cell Immunol* 130, 204-212; discussion 213-235 (1990)
- 65. Sinclair, N.R. & C.C. Anderson: Co-stimulation and co-inhibition: equal partners in regulation. *Scand J Immunol* 43, 597-603 (1996)
- 66. Anderson, C.C. & N.R. Sinclair: FcR-mediated inhibition of cell activation and other forms of coinhibition. *Crit Rev Immunol* 18, 525-544 (1998)
- 67. Caspi, R.R., C.C. Chan, B.G. Grubbs, P.B. Silver, B. Wiggert, C.F. Parsa, S. Bahmanyar, A. Billiau & H. Heremans: Endogenous systemic IFN-gamma has a protective role against ocular autoimmunity in mice. *J Immunol* 152, 890-899 (1994)
- 68. Perez, V.L., L. Van Parijs, A. Biuckians, X.X. Zheng, T.B. Strom & A.K. Abbas: Induction of peripheral T cell tolerance in vivo requires CTLA-4 engagement. *Immunity* 6, 411-417 (1997)
- 69. Okazaki, T., Y. Tanaka, R. Nishio, T. Mitsuiye, A. Mizoguchi, J. Wang, M. Ishida, H. Hiai, A. Matsumori, N. Minato & T. Honjo: Autoantibodies against cardiac troponin I are responsible for dilated cardiomyopathy in PD-1-deficient mice. *Nat Med* 9, 1477-1483 (2003)
- 70. Sabatos, C.A., S. Chakravarti, E. Cha, A. Schubart, A. Sanchez-Fueyo, X.X. Zheng, A.J. Coyle, T.B. Strom, G.J. Freeman & V.K. Kuchroo: Interaction of Tim-3 and Tim-3 ligand regulates T helper type 1 responses and induction of peripheral tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 4, 1102-1110 (2003)
- 71. Sanchez-Fueyo, A., J. Tian, D. Picarella, C. Domenig, X.X. Zheng, C.A. Sabatos, N. Manlongat, O. Bender, T. Kamradt, V.K. Kuchroo, J.C. Gutierrez-Ramos, A.J. Coyle & T.B. Strom: Tim-3 inhibits T helper type 1-mediated auto- and alloimmune responses and promotes immunological tolerance. *Nat Immunol* 4, 1093-1101 (2003)
- 72. Ravetch, J.V. & L.L. Lanier: Immune inhibitory receptors. *Science* 290, 84-89 (2000)

- 73. Sinclair, N.R.: Why so many coinhibitory receptors? *Scand J Immunol* 50, 10-13 (1999)
- 74. Fecteau, S., G.P. Basadonna, A. Freitas, C. Ariyan, M.H. Sayegh & D.M. Rothstein: CTLA-4 up-regulation plays a role in tolerance mediated by CD45. *Nat Immunol* 2, 58-63 (2001)
- 75. Ozkaynak, E., L. Wang, A. Goodearl, K. McDonald, S. Qin, T. O'Keefe, T. Duong, T. Smith, J.C. Gutierrez-Ramos, J.B. Rottman, A.J. Coyle & W.W. Hancock: Programmed death-1 targeting can promote allograft survival. *J Immunol* 169, 6546-6553 (2002)
- 76. Hwang, K.W., W.B. Sweatt, I.E. Brown, C. Blank, T.F. Gajewski, J.A. Bluestone & M.L. Alegre: Cutting edge: targeted ligation of CTLA-4 in vivo by membrane-bound anti-CTLA-4 antibody prevents rejection of allogeneic cells. *J Immunol* 169, 633-637 (2002)
- 77. Modigliani, Y., A. Bandeira & A. Coutinho: A model for developmentally acquired thymus-dependent tolerance to central and peripheral antigens. *Immunol Rev* 149, 155-120 (1996)
- 78. Kursar, M., K. Bonhagen, J. Fensterle, A. Kohler, R. Hurwitz, T. Kamradt, S.H. Kaufmann & H.W. Mittrucker: Regulatory CD4+CD25+ T cells restrict memory CD8+ T cell responses. *J Exp Med* 196, 1585-1592 (2002)
- 79. McGuirk, P. & K.H. Mills: Pathogen-specific regulatory T cells provoke a shift in the Th1/Th2 paradigm in immunity to infectious diseases. *Trends Immunol* 23, 450-455 (2002)
- 80. Pasare, C. & R. Medzhitov: Toll pathway-dependent blockade of CD4+CD25+ T cell-mediated suppression by dendritic cells. *Science* 299, 1033-1036 (2003)
- 81. Caramalho, I., T. Lopes-Carvalho, D. Ostler, S. Zelenay, M. Haury & J. Demengeot: Regulatory T cells selectively express toll-like receptors and are activated by lipopolysaccharide. *J Exp Med* 197, 403-411 (2003)
- 82. Sakaguchi, S.: Control of immune responses by naturally arising CD4+ regulatory T cells that express toll-like receptors. *J Exp Med* 197, 397-401 (2003)
- 83. Belkaid, Y., C.A. Piccirillo, S. Mendez, E.M. Shevach & D.L. Sacks: CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells control Leishmania major persistence and immunity. *Nature* 420, 502-507 (2002)
- 84. Gershon, R.K. & K. Kondo: Cell interactions in the induction of tolerance: the role of thymic lymphocytes. *Immunology* 18, 723-737 (1970)
- 85. Gershon, R.K. & K. Kondo: Infectious immunological tolerance. *Immunology* 21, 903-914 (1971)
- 86. Hori, S., T. Nomura & S. Sakaguchi: Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* 299, 1057-1061 (2003)
- 87. Jordan, M.S., A. Boesteanu, A.J. Reed, A.L. Petrone, A.E. Holenbeck, M.A. Lerman, A. Naji & A.J. Caton: Thymic selection of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells induced by an agonist self-peptide. *Nat Immunol* 2, 301-306 (2001)
- 88. Apostolou, I., A. Sarukhan, L. Klein & H. von Boehmer: Origin of regulatory T cells with known specificity for antigen. *Nat Immunol* 3, 756-763 (2002)
- 89. Grossman, Z. & W.E. Paul: Self-tolerance: context dependent tuning of T cell antigen recognition. *Semin Immunol* 12, 197-203; discussion 257-344 (2000)

- 90. Grossman, Z. & W.E. Paul: Adaptive cellular interactions in the immune system: the tunable activation threshold and the significance of subthreshold responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89, 10365-10369 (1992)
- 91. Tanchot, C., D.L. Barber, L. Chiodetti & R.H. Schwartz: Adaptive tolerance of CD4+ T cells in vivo: multiple thresholds in response to a constant level of antigen presentation. *J Immunol* 167, 2030-2039 (2001)
- 92. Singh, N.J. & R.H. Schwartz: The strength of persistent antigenic stimulation modulates adaptive tolerance in peripheral CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 198, 1107-1117 (2003)
- 93. Ohashi, P.S., S. Oehen, K. Buerki, H. Pircher, C.T. Ohashi, B. Odermatt, B. Malissen, R.M. Zinkernagel & H. Hengartner: Ablation of "tolerance" and induction of diabetes by virus infection in viral antigen transgenic mice. *Cell* 65, 305-317 (1991)
- 94. Oldstone, M.B., M. Nerenberg, P. Southern, J. Price & H. Lewicki: Virus infection triggers insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in a transgenic model: role of anti-self (virus) immune response. *Cell* 65, 319-331 (1991)
- 95. Bai, Y., J. Liu, Y. Wang, S. Honig, L. Qin, P. Boros & J.S. Bromberg: L-selectin-dependent lymphoid occupancy is required to induce alloantigen-specific tolerance. *J Immunol* 168, 1579-1589 (2002)
- 96. Kurts, C., R.M. Sutherland, G. Davey, M. Li, A.M. Lew, E. Blanas, F.R. Carbone, J.F. Miller & W.R. Heath: CD8 T cell ignorance or tolerance to islet antigens depends on antigen dose. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96, 12703-12707 (1999)
- 97. Lakkis, F.G., A. Arakelov, B.T. Konieczny & Y. Inoue: Immunologic 'ignorance' of vascularized organ transplants in the absence of secondary lymphoid tissue. *Nat Med* 6, 686-688 (2000)
- 98. Kurts, C., H. Kosaka, F.R. Carbone, J.F. Miller & W.R. Heath: Class I-restricted cross-presentation of exogenous self-antigens leads to deletion of autoreactive CD8(+) T cells. *J Exp Med* 186, 239-245 (1997)
- 99. Adler, A.J., D.W. Marsh, G.S. Yochum, J.L. Guzzo, N. A., W.G. Nelson & D.M. Pardoll: CD4+ T cell tolerance to parenchymal self-antigens requires presentation by bone marrow-derived antigen-presenting cells. *J Exp Med* 187, 1555-1564 (1998)
- 100. Lerner, C.G., M.R. Horton, R.H. Schwartz & J.D. Powell: Distinct requirements for C-C chemokine and IL-2 production by naive, previously activated, and anergic T cells. *J Immunol* 164, 3996-4002 (2000)
- 101. Hayashi, R.J., D.Y. Loh, O. Kanagawa & F. Wang: Differences between responses of naive and activated T cells to anergy induction. *J Immunol* 160, 33-38 (1998)
- 102. Zal, T., A. Volkmann & B. Stockinger: Mechanisms of tolerance induction in major histocompatibility complex class II-restricted T cells specific for a blood-borne self-antigen. *J Exp Med* 180, 2089-2099 (1994)
- 103. Oehen, S., L. Feng, Y. Xia, C.D. Surh & S.M. Hedrick: Antigen compartmentation and T helper cell tolerance induction. *J Exp Med* 183, 2617-2626 (1996)
- 104. Katz, J.D., B. Wang, K. Haskins, C. Benoist & D. Mathis: Following a diabetogenic T cell from genesis through pathogenesis. *Cell* 74, 1089-1100 (1993)
- 105. Goverman, J., A. Woods, L. Larson, L.P. Weiner, L. Hood & D.M. Zaller: Transgenic mice that express a

- myelin basic protein-specific T cell receptor develop spontaneous autoimmunity. *Cell* 72, 551-560 (1993)
- 106. Lafaille, J.J., K. Nagashima, M. Katsuki & S. Tonegawa: High incidence of spontaneous autoimmune encephalomyelitis in immunodeficient anti-myelin basic protein T cell receptor transgenic mice. *Cell* 78, 399-408 (1994)
- 107. Verdaguer, J., D. Schmidt, A. Amrani, B. Anderson, N. Averill & P. Santamaria: Spontaneous autoimmune diabetes in monoclonal T cell nonobese diabetic mice. *J Exp Med* 186, 1663-1676 (1997)
- 108. Matsumoto, I., A. Staub, C. Benoist & D. Mathis: Arthritis provoked by linked T and B cell recognition of a glycolytic enzyme. *Science* 286, 1732-1735 (1999)
- 109. Ramsdell, F. & B.J. Fowlkes: Maintenance of in vivo tolerance by persistence of antigen. *Science* 257, 1130-1134 (1992)
- 110. Jones, L.A., L.T. Chin, D.L. Longo & A.M. Kruisbeek: Peripheral clonal elimination of functional T cells. *Science* 250, 1726-1729 (1990)
- 111. Falb, D., T. Briner, G. Sunshine, C. Bourque, M. Luqman, M. Gefter & T. Kamradt: Peripheral tolerance in T cell receptor-transgenic mice: evidence for T cell anergy. *Eur J Immunol* 26, 130-135 (1996)
- 112. Webb, S., C. Morris & J. Sprent: Extrathymic tolerance of mature T cells: clonal elimination as a consequence of immunity. *Cell* 63, 1249-1256 (1990)
- 113. Kearney, E.R., K.A. Pape, D.Y. Loh & M.K. Jenkins: Visualization of peptide-specific T cell immunity and peripheral tolerance induction in vivo. *Immunity* 1, 327-339 (1994)
- 114. Bandeira, A., J. Mengel, O. Burlen-Defranoux & A. Coutinho: Proliferative T cell anergy to MIs-1a does not correlate with in vivo tolerance. *Int Immunol* 3, 923-931 (1991)
- 115. Granucci, F., M. Rescigno, G. Marconi, M. Foti & P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli: Ig-specific T cell receptor-transgenic T cells are not deleted in the thymus and are functional in vivo. *J Exp Med* 183, 203-213 (1996)
- 116. Stamou, P., J. de Jersey, D. Carmignac, C. Mamalaki, D. Kioussis & B. Stockinger: Chronic exposure to low levels of antigen in the periphery causes reversible functional impairment correlating with changes in CD5 levels in monoclonal CD8 T cells. *J Immunol* 171, 1278-1284 (2003)
- 117. Adams, T.E., S. Alpert & D. Hanahan: Non-tolerance and autoantibodies to a transgenic self antigen expressed in pancreatic beta cells. *Nature* 325, 223-228 (1987)
- 118. Forster, I., R. Hirose, J. Arbeit, B. Clausen & D. Hanahan: Limited capacity for tolerization of CD4+ T cells specific for a pancreatic β cell neo-antigen. *Immunity* 2, 573-585 (1995)
- 119. Smith, K., D. Olson, R. Hirose & D. Hanahan: Pancreatic gene expression in rare cells of thymic medulla: evidence for functional contribution to T cell tolerance. *Int Immunol* 9, 1355-1365 (1997)
- 120. Watanabe-Fukunaga, R., C.I. Brannan, N.G. Copeland, N.A. Jenkins & S. Nagata: Lymphoproliferation disorder in mice explained by defects in Fas antigen that mediates apoptosis. *Nature* 356, 314-317 (1992)
- 121. Tivol, E.A., F. Borriello, A.N. Schweitzer, W.P. Lynch, J.A. Bluestone & A.H. Sharpe: Loss of CTLA-4

- leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* 3, 541-547 (1995)
- 122. Lo, D., L.C. Burkly, G. Widera, C. Cowing, R.A. Flavell, R.D. Palmiter & R.L. Brinster: Diabetes and tolerance in transgenic mice expressing class II MHC molecules in pancreatic beta cells. *Cell* 53, 159-168 (1988)
- 123. Lo, D., L.C. Burkly, R.A. Flavell, R.D. Palmiter & R.L. Brinster: Tolerance in transgenic mice expressing class II major histocompatibility complex on pancreatic acinar cells. *J Exp Med* 170, 87-104 (1989)
- 124. Burkly, L.C., D. Lo, O. Kanagawa, R.L. Brinster & R.A. Flavell: T-cell tolerance by clonal anergy in transgenic mice with nonlymphoid expression of MHC class II I-E. *Nature* 342, 564-566 (1989)
- 125. Burkly, L.C., D. Lo & R.A. Flavell: Tolerance in transgenic mice expressing major histocompatibility molecules extrathymically on pancreatic cells. *Science* 248, 1364-1368 (1990)
- 126. Bohme, J., K. Haskins, P. Stecha, W. van Ewijk, M. LeMeur, P. Gerlinger, C. Benoist & D. Mathis: Transgenic mice with I-A on islet cells are normoglycemic but immunologically intolerant. *Science* 244, 1179-1183 (1989) 127. Miller, J., L. Daitch, S. Rath & E. Selsing: Tissue-specific expression of allogeneic class II MHC molecules induces neither tissue rejection nor clonal inactivation of alloreactive T cells. *J Immunol* 144, 334-341 (1990)
- 128. Murphy, K.M., C.T. Weaver, M. Elish, P.M. Allen & D.Y. Loh: Peripheral tolerance to allogeneic class II histocompatibility antigens expressed in transgenic mice: evidence against a clonal-deletion mechanism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86, 10034-10038 (1989)
- 129. Bevan, M.J.: Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. *J.Exp.Med.* 143, 1283-1288 (1976)
- 130. Kurts, C., W.R. Heath, F.R. Carbone, J. Allison, J.F. Miller & H. Kosaka: Constitutive class I-restricted exogenous presentation of self antigens in vivo. *J.Exp.Med.* 184, 923-930 (1996)
- 131. Kurts, C., J.F.A.P. Miller, R.M. Subramaniam, F.R. Carbone & W.R. Heath: Major Histocompatibilty Complex Class I-restricted cross-presentation is biased towards high dose antigens and those released during cellular destruction. *J. Exp. Med.* 188, 409-414 (1998)
- 132. Hernandez, J., S. Aung, W.L. Redmond & L.A. Sherman: Phenotypic and functional analysis of CD8(+) T cells undergoing peripheral deletion in response to cross-presentation of self-antigen. *J Exp Med* 194, 707-717 (2001)
- 133. Inaba, K., S. Turley, F. Yamaide, T. Iyoda, K. Mahnke, M. Inaba, M. Pack, M. Subklewe, B. Sauter, D. Sheff, M. Albert, N. Bhardwaj, I. Mellman & R.M. Steinman: Efficient presentation of phagocytosed cellular fragments on the major histocompatibility complex class II products of dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 188, 2163-2173 (1998)
- 134. Morgan, D.J., H.T. Kreuwel & L.A. Sherman: Antigen concentration and precursor frequency determine the rate of CD8+ T cell tolerance to peripherally expressed antigens. *J Immunol* 163, 723-727 (1999)
- 135. Lanoue, A., C. Bona, H. von Boehmer & A. Sarukhan: Conditions that induce tolerance in mature CD4+ T cells. *J Exp Med* 185, 405-414 (1997)

- 136. Adler, A.J., C.T. Huang, G.S. Yochum, D.W. Marsh & D.M. Pardoll: In vivo CD4+ T cell tolerance induction versus priming is independent of the rate and number of cell divisions. *J Immunol* 164, 649-655 (2000)
- 137. Blichfeldt, E., L.A. Munthe, J.S. Rotnes & B. Bogen: Dual T cell receptor T cells have a decreased sensitivity to physiological ligands due to reduced density of each T cell receptor. *Eur J Immunol* 26, 2876-2884 (1996)
- 138. Zal, T., S. Weiss, A. Mellor & B. Stockinger: Expression of a second receptor rescues self-specific T cells from thymic deletion and allows activation of autoreactive effector function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 9102-9107 (1996)
- 139. Jordan, M.S., M.P. Riley, H. von Boehmer & A.J. Caton: Anergy and suppression regulate CD4(+) T cell responses to a self peptide. *Eur J Immunol* 30, 136-144 (2000)
- 140. Riley, M.P., F.F. Shih, M.S. Jordan, A.L. Petrone, D.M. Cerasoli, P. Scott & A.J. Caton: CD4+ T cells that evade deletion by a self peptide display Th1-biased differentiation. *Eur J Immunol* 31, 311-319 (2001)
- 141. Steinman, R.M.: Dendritic cells: Nature's adjuvant. In: Immunogenicity. Ed: Janeway, CA, Jr. A. R. Liss, New York (1989)
- 142. Fuchs, E.J. & P. Matzinger: B cells turn off virgin but not memory T cells. *Science* 258, 1156-1159 (1992)
- 143. Eynon, E.E. & D.C. Parker: Do small B cells induce tolerance? *Transplant.Proc.* 23, 729-730 (1991)
- 144. Eynon, E.E. & D.C. Parker: Small B cells as antigenpresenting cells in the induction of tolerance to soluble protein antigens. *J Exp Med* 175, 131-138 (1992)
- 145. Hoglund, P., J. Mintern, C. Waltzinger, W. Heath, C. Benoist & D. Mathis: Initiation of autoimmune diabetes by developmentally regulated presentation of islet cell antigens in the pancreatic lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* 189, 331-339 (1999)
- 146. Kawahata, K., Y. Misaki, M. Yamauchi, S. Tsunekawa, K. Setoguchi, J. Miyazaki & K. Yamamoto: Peripheral tolerance to a nuclear autoantigen: dendritic cells expressing a nuclear autoantigen lead to persistent anergic state of CD4+ autoreactive T cells after proliferation. *J Immunol* 168, 1103-1112 (2002)
- 147. Forster, I. & I. Lieberam: Peripheral tolerance of CD4 T cells following local activation in adolescent mice. *Eur J Immunol* 26, 3194-3202 (1996)
- 148. Walker, L.S., L.J. Ausubel, A. Chodos, N. Bekarian & A.K. Abbas: CTLA-4 differentially regulates T cell responses to endogenous tissue protein versus exogenous immunogen. *J Immunol* 169, 6202-6209 (2002)
- 149. Rogers, P.R., J. Song, I. Gramaglia, N. Killeen & M. Croft: OX40 promotes Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 expression and is essential for long-term survival of CD4 T cells. *Immunity* 15, 445-455 (2001)
- 150. Baxter, A.G. & P.D. Hodgkin: Activation rules: the two-signal theories of immune activation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2, 439-446 (2002)
- 151. Lafferty, K.J., M.A. Cooley, J. Woolnough & K.Z. Walker: Thyroid allograft immunogenicity is reduced after a period in organ culture. *Science* 188, 259-261 (1975)
- 152. Lafferty, K.J., A. Bootes, G. Dart & D.W. Talmage: Effect of organ culture on the survival of thyroid allografts in mice. *Transplantation* 22, 138-149 (1976)

- 153. Bowen, K.M., L. Andrus & K.J. Lafferty: Successful allotransplantation of mouse pancreatic islets to nonimmunosuppressed recipients. *Diabetes* 29 Suppl 1, 98-104 (1980)
- 154. Lechler, R.I. & J.R. Batchelor: Restoration of immunogenicity to passenger cell-depleted kidney allografts by the addition of donor strain dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 155, 31-41 (1982)
- 155. Donohoe, J.A., L. Andrus, K.M. Bowen, C. Simeonovic, S.J. Prowse & K.J. Lafferty: Cultured thyroid allografts induce a state of partial tolerance in adult recipient mice. *Transplantation* 35, 62-67 (1983)
- 156. La Rosa, F.G., D. Smilek, D.W. Talmage, K.J. Lafferty, P. Bauling & T.J. Ammons: Evidence that tolerance to cultured thyroid allografts is an active immunological process. Protection of third-party grafts bearing new antigens when associated with tolerogenic antigens. *Transplantation* 53, 903-913 (1992)
- 157. Coulombe, M. & R.G. Gill: Tolerance induction to cultured islet allografts. I. Characterization of the tolerant state. *Transplantation* 57, 1195-1200 (1994)
- 158. Coulombe, M. & R.G. Gill: Tolerance induction to cultured islet allografts. II. The status of antidonor reactivity in tolerant animals. *Transplantation* 57, 1201-1207 (1994)
- 159. Coulombe, M., H. Yang, L.A. Wolf & R.G. Gill: Tolerance to antigen-presenting cell-depleted islet allografts is CD4 T cell dependent. *J Immunol* 162, 2503-2510 (1999)
- 160. Bartlett, S.T., A.S. Jennings, C. Yu, A. Naji, C.F. Barker & W.K. Silvers: Influence of culturing on the survival of major histocompatibility complex-compatible and -incompatible thyroid grafts in rats. *J Exp Med* 157, 348-352 (1983)
- 161. Anderson, C.C.: Conceptual Models In Immunity/Tolerance: Application to transplantation. In: Immunology of Organ Transplantation. Eds: Burlingham, WJ & Wilkes, DS Kluwer Academic/ Plenum Publishers In Press (2004)
- 162. Schwartz, R.H.: Costimulation of T lymphocytes: the role of CD28, CTLA-4, and B7/BB1 in interleukin-2 production and immunotherapy. *Cell* 71, 1065-1068 (1992)
- 163. Kobata, T., M. Azuma, H. Yagita & K. Okumura: Role of costimulatory molecules in autoimmunity. *Rev Immunogenet* 2, 74-80 (2000)
- 164. Kishimoto, K., V.M. Dong & M.H. Sayegh: The role of costimulatory molecules as targets for new immunosuppressives in transplantation. *Curr Opin Urol* 10, 57-62 (2000)
- 165. Tamada, K. & L. Chen: T lymphocyte costimulatory molecules in host defense and immunologic diseases. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 85, 164-175; quiz 175-167 (2000)
- 166. Salomon, B. & J.A. Bluestone: Complexities of CD28/B7: CTLA-4 costimulatory pathways in autoimmunity and transplantation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 19, 225-252 (2001)
- 167. Lenschow, D.J., Y. Zeng, J.R. Thistlethwaite, A. Montag, W. Brady, M.G. Gibson, P.S. Linsley & J.A. Bluestone: Long-term survival of xenogeneic pancreatic islet grafts induced by CTLA4lg. *Science* 257, 789-792 (1992)
- 168. Larsen, C.P., E.T. Elwood, D.Z. Alexander, S.C. Ritchie, R. Hendrix, C. Tucker-Burden, H.R. Cho, A. Aruffo, D. Hollenbaugh, P.S. Linsley, K.J. Winn & T.C.

- Pearson: Long-term acceptance of skin and cardiac allografts after blocking CD40 and CD28 pathways. *Nature* 381, 434-438. (1996)
- 169. Levisetti, M.G., P.A. Padrid, G.L. Szot, N. Mittal, S.M. Meehan, C.L. Wardrip, G.S. Gray, D.S. Bruce, J.R. Thistlethwaite, Jr. & J.A. Bluestone: Immunosuppressive effects of human CTLA4Ig in a non-human primate model of allogeneic pancreatic islet transplantation. *J Immunol* 159, 5187-5191 (1997)
- 170. Kirk, A.D., D.M. Harlan, N.N. Armstrong, T.A. Davis, Y. Dong, G.S. Gray, X. Hong, D. Thomas, J.H. Fechner, Jr. & S.J. Knechtle: CTLA4-Ig and anti-CD40 ligand prevent renal allograft rejection in primates. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 94, 8789-8794. (1997)
- 171. Kirk, A.D., L.C. Burkly, D.S. Batty, R.E. Baumgartner, J.D. Berning, K. Buchanan, J.H. Fechner, Jr., R.L. Germond, R.L. Kampen, N.B. Patterson, S.J. Swanson, D.K. Tadaki, C.N. TenHoor, L. White, S.J. Knechtle & D.M. Harlan: Treatment with humanized monoclonal antibody against CD154 prevents acute renal allograft rejection in nonhuman primates. *Nat Med* 5, 686-693. (1999)
- 172. Newell, K.A., G. He, Z. Guo, O. Kim, G.L. Szot, I. Rulifson, P. Zhou, J. Hart, J.R. Thistlethwaite & J.A. Bluestone: Cutting edge: blockade of the CD28/B7 costimulatory pathway inhibits intestinal allograft rejection mediated by CD4+ but not CD8+ T cells. *J Immunol* 163, 2358-2362 (1999)
- 173. Xu, H., E. Elster, D. Batty, J. Berning, L. Burkly, R. Kampen, S. Swanson, D. Tadaki, D. Harlan & A. Kirk: Effects of dose and duration of anti-CD154 antibody therapy in preventing renal allograft rejection in a nonhuman primate model. *Transplant Proc* 33, 223-224 (2001)
- 174. Blair, P.J., J.L. Riley, D.M. Harlan, R. Abe, D.K. Tadaki, S.C. Hoffmann, L. White, T. Francomano, S.J. Perfetto, A.D. Kirk & C.H. June: CD40 ligand (CD154) triggers a short-term CD4(+) T cell activation response that results in secretion of immunomodulatory cytokines and apoptosis. *J Exp Med* 191, 651-660 (2000)
- 175. Lin, H., R.Q. Wei, R.E. Goodman & S.F. Bolling: CD28 blockade alters cytokine mRNA profiles in cardiac transplantation. *Surgery* 122, 129-137 (1997)
- 176. Tran, H.M., P.W. Nickerson, A.C. Restifo, M.A. Ivis-Woodward, A. Patel, R.D. Allen, T.B. Strom & P.J. O'Connell: Distinct mechanisms for the induction and maintenance of allograft tolerance with CTLA4-Fc treatment. *J Immunol* 159, 2232-2239 (1997)
- 177. Konieczny, B.T., Z. Dai, E.T. Elwood, S. Saleem, P.S. Linsley, F.K. Baddoura, C.P. Larsen, T.C. Pearson & F.G. Lakkis: IFN-gamma is critical for long-term allograft survival induced by blocking the CD28 and CD40 ligand T cell costimulation pathways. *J Immunol* 160, 2059-2064 (1998)
- 178. Wells, A.D., X.C. Li, Y. Li, M.C. Walsh, X.X. Zheng, Z. Wu, G. Nunez, A. Tang, M. Sayegh, W.W. Hancock, T.B. Strom & L.A. Turka: Requirement for T-cell apoptosis in the induction of peripheral transplantation tolerance. *Nat Med* 5, 1303-1307 (1999)
- 179. Ozkaynak, E., W. Gao, N. Shemmeri, C. Wang, J.C. Gutierrez-Ramos, J. Amaral, S. Qin, J.B. Rottman, A.J. Coyle & W.W. Hancock: Importance of ICOS-B7RP-1

- costimulation in acute and chronic allograft rejection. *Nat Immunol* 2, 591-596 (2001)
- 180. Nanji, S.A., W.W. Hancock, C.C. Anderson, A.B. Adams, B. Luo, C.D. Schur, R.L. Pawlick, L. Wong, A.J. Coyle, C.P. Larsen & A.M.J. Shapiro: Targeting the ICOS-B7h costimulatory pathway synergizes with sirolimus to regulate alloresponses in islet transplantation. *Am J Transplant* In Press (2004)
- 181. Zheng, X.X., A. Sanchez-Fueyo, M. Sho, C. Domenig, M.H. Sayegh & T.B. Strom: Favorably tipping the balance between cytopathic and regulatory T cells to create transplantation tolerance. *Immunity* 19, 503-514 (2003)
- 182. Goldstein, D.R., B.M. Tesar, S. Akira & F.G. Lakkis: Critical role of the Toll-like receptor signal adaptor protein MyD88 in acute allograft rejection. *J Clin Invest* 111, 1571-1578 (2003)
- 183. Honey, K., S.P. Cobbold & H. Waldmann: CD40 ligand blockade induces CD4+ T cell tolerance and linked suppression. *J Immunol* 163, 4805-4810 (1999)
- 184. Graca, L., K. Honey, E. Adams, S.P. Cobbold & H. Waldmann: Cutting edge: anti-CD154 therapeutic antibodies induce infectious transplantation tolerance. *J Immunol* 165, 4783-4786 (2000)
- 185. Graca, L., S.P. Cobbold & H. Waldmann: Identification of regulatory T cells in tolerated allografts. *J Exp Med* 195, 1641-1646 (2002)
- 186. Heath, W.R., F. Karamalis, J. Donoghue & J.F. Miller: Autoimmunity caused by ignorant CD8+ T cells is transient and depends on avidity. *J Immunol* 155, 2339-2349 (1995)
- 187. Rocha, B. & H. von Boehmer: Peripheral selection of the T cell repertoire. *Science* 251, 1225-1228 (1991)
- 188. Bertolino, P., W.R. Heath, C.L. Hardy, G. Morahan & J.F. Miller: Peripheral deletion of autoreactive CD8+ T cells in transgenic mice expressing H-2Kb in the liver. *Eur J Immunol* 25, 1932-1942 (1995)
- 189. Arnold, B., G. Schonrich & G.J. Hammerling: Multiple levels of peripheral tolerance. *Immunol Today* 14, 12-14 (1993)
- 190. Morgan, D.J., H.T. Kreuwel, S. Fleck, H.I. Levitsky, D.M. Pardoll & L.A. Sherman: Activation of low avidity CTL specific for a self epitope results in tumor rejection but not autoimmunity. *J Immunol* 160, 643-651 (1998)
- 191. Vacchio, M.S. & S.P. Jiang: The fetus and the maternal immune system: pregnancy as a model to study peripheral T-cell tolerance. *Crit Rev Immunol* 19, 461-480 (1999)
- 192. Tafuri, A., J. Alferink, P. Moller, G.J. Hammerling & B. Arnold: T cell awareness of paternal alloantigens during pregnancy. *Science* 270, 630-633 (1995)
- 193. Jiang, S.P. & M.S. Vacchio: Multiple mechanisms of peripheral T cell tolerance to the fetal "allograft". *J Immunol* 160, 3086-3090 (1998)
- **Key words:** Self-tolerance, Transplantation tolerance, CD4-positive T-lymphocytes, Immunity, Autoimmune diseases

Send correspondence to: Dr. Colin C. Anderson, Surgical-Medical Research Institute, 1074 Dentistry/Pharmacy Centre, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB T6G 2N8,

Canada Tel: 780-492-3945, Fax: 780-492-1627, E-mail: colinand@ualberta.ca